BEFORE THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

WILLIAM SMITH		APPELLANT		
VERSUS	CIVIL ACTION NO	2009-CA-1003		
CITY OF SALTILLO, MISSISSIPPI		APPELLEE		
BRIEF OF APPELLANT				

GENE BARTON ATTORNEY AT LAW POST OFFICE BOX 147 OKOLONA, MISSISSIPPI 38860

PHONE:

662-447-2522 662-447-2526

FAX: EMAIL:

gbartonatty@bellsouth.net

BEFORE THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

WILLIAM SN	ан	Ή
------------	----	---

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CIVIL ACTION NO. ____

2009-CA-1003

CITY OF SALTILLO, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant, William Smith, filed a Complaint in the County Court of Lee County, Mississippi, alleging that the City Court Clerk intentionally sent in his conviction of DUI three (3) years late and modified the dates which did not correctly reflect the date of conviction. As a result, Appellant, William Smith, alleges that he, as a truck driver, lost wages and income due to the fact that he was told by the City Judge that his driver's license was suspended at the time he pled guilty, and he therefore quit driving for a period of at least ninety (90) days, and then three (3) years later, his license was suspended again as a result of the Clerk's actions in sending in, three (3) years later, the suspension notice and the Notice of Conviction.

Damages claimed are his lost wages and inability to work due to not having a driver's license, since William Smith is a truck driver.

ISSUES BEFORE THE COURT

ISSUE I:

UNDER THE ABOVE STATED FACT. THE CITY CLERK INTENTIONALLY FAILED TO SEND IN THE NOTICE OF CONVICTION IN A TIMELY FASHION, i.e., THREE (3) YEARS LATE, AND INDICATED WHEN SHE SENT IT IN THE WRONG DATES, CAUSING THE DRIVER'S LICENSE OF WILLIAM SMITH TO BE SUSPENDED TWICE, IS SUCH CLAIM BARRED UNDER THE MISSISSIPPI TORT CLAIMS ACT BY SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY AS HELD BY CHARLES BRETT. MUNICIPAL COURT JUDGE? IN THIS PARTICULAR CASE BEFORE THE COURT, A COMPLAINT WAS TIMELY FILED SEEKING DAMAGES AGAINST THE CITY OF SALTILLO, MISSISSIPPI, WHERE THE DEFENDANT WAS CONVICTED OF DUI IN THE MUNICIPAL COURT IN 2009 AND THAT THE DUI CASE WAS NEGLIGENTLY HANDLED BY THE CLERK, AND THE DISCOVERY AND DOCUMENTATION REFLECT THAT THE DUI WAS SEND IN THREE (3) YEARS LATE. THE CONVICTION IS CLEARLY DATED DECEMBER OF 2006. THIS COMPLAINT CLEARLY ALLEGED THAT THE DOCUMENTS HAD BEEN DOCTORED OR ALTERED TO REFLECT A CHANGE IN THE DATE OF THE CONVICTION. THE RECORDS IN THE FILE INDICATE A COMPLAINT WHERE THE MUNICIPAL CLERK MISHANDLED THE SENDING IN OF A DUI ABSTRACT, WHICH RESULTED IN THE LOSS OF THE APPELLANT'S DRIVING PRIVILEGES AFTER THE APPELLANT HAD ALREADY BEEN TOLD HIS DRIVER'S LICENSE HAD BEEN SUSPENDED. AND HE SERVED THEREFORE TWO (2) NINETY (90) DAY SUSPENSIONS. THE PRINCIPAL ISSUE BEFORE THE COURT IS WHETHER OR NOT THE NEGLIGENCE OF THE CLERK IN SO HANDLING THIS MINISTERIAL ACT CONSTITUTES GROUNDS FOR LIABILITY AGAINST THE CITY OF SALTILLO OUTSIDE THE PROTECTION OF THE SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY DOCTRINE.

ISSUE II: WHETHER OR NOT THE CIRCUIT COURT HEARING

THIS CASE ON APPEAL IMPROPERLY DISMISSED THE APPEAL AFTER IT WAS PROPERLY PAID FOR AND FILED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF WHICH THE COUNTY COURT IS A DIVISION.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

THE APPELLANT, William Smith, would respectfully state that a Municipal Court Clerk acting in a ministerial function of sending an abstract to Jackson, Mississippi is not immune from suit as a result of her actions as reflected in this case. The question of immunity can only be fully developed as the case is tried but the simple actions of this ministerial act which is not a part of her Court functions and could be followed and performed by any other employee of the City are not protected by the scope of the immunity and therefore the City of Saltillo has liability if the facts alleged by William Smith are true. It was error to dismiss the suit by Judge Brett on the grounds of Sovereign Immunity. The Circuit Court also erred in dismissing this Appeal when two separate Circuit Judges had signed orders setting up scheduling orders and then granting an extension of time to file briefs when it was obvious that a clear effort was made to file an Appeal in the right Court being the Circuit Court when there was alleged an error to be in the County Court which is a specific division of the Circuit Court just as the Court of Appeals is a division of the Supreme Court and this error is compounded by the fact that as required under Supreme Court Rules, after the appeal is properly filed with the Circuit Clerk, no notice of any deficiency was ever given to the Appellant ever in this case and the Appellant was not allowed to correct any deficiency by the payment of the required court cost or extra cost or the more specific

designation of his record.

Wherefore premises considered for these reasons, the Appellant asks that this case be remanded back to the County Court for the trial on the merits.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant, William Smith, filed a Complaint in the County Court of Lee County, Mississippi, alleging that the City Court Clerk intentionally sent in his conviction of DUI three (3) years late and modified the dates which did not correctly reflect the date of conviction. As a result, Appellant, William Smith, alleges that he, as a truck driver, lost wages and income due to the fact that he was told by the City Judge that his driver's license was suspended at the time he pled guilty, and he therefore quit driving for a period of at least ninety (90) days, and then three (3) years later, his license was suspended again as a result of the Clerk's actions in sending in, three (3) years later, the suspension notice and the Notice of Conviction.

Damages claimed are his lost wages and inability to work due to not having a driver's license, since William Smith is a truck driver.

ISSUES BEFORE THE COURT

ISSUE I:

UNDER THE ABOVE STATED FACT. THE CITY CLERK INTENTIONALLY FAILED TO SEND IN THE NOTICE OF CONVICTION IN A TIMELY FASHION, i.e., THREE (3) YEARS LATE, AND INDICATED WHEN SHE SENT IT IN THE WRONG DATES, CAUSING THE DRIVER'S LICENSE OF WILLIAM SMITH TO BE SUSPENDED TWICE, IS SUCH CLAIM BARRED UNDER THE MISSISSIPPI TORT CLAIMS ACT BY SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY AS HELD BY **CHARLES** MUNICIPAL COURT JUDGE? IN THIS PARTICULAR CASE BEFORE THE COURT. A COMPLAINT WAS TIMELY FILED SEEKING DAMAGES AGAINST THE CITY OF SALTILLO, MISSISSIPPI, WHERE THE DEFENDANT WAS CONVICTED OF DUI IN THE MUNICIPAL COURT IN 2009 AND THAT THE DUI CASE WAS NEGLIGENTLY HANDLED BY THE CLERK, AND THE DISCOVERY AND DOCUMENTATION REFLECT THAT THE DUI WAS SEND IN THREE (3) YEARS LATE. THE CONVICTION IS CLEARLY DATED DECEMBER OF 2006. THIS COMPLAINT CLEARLY ALLEGED THAT THE DOCUMENTS HAD BEEN DOCTORED OR ALTERED TO REFLECT A CHANGE IN THE DATE OF THE CONVICTION. THE RECORDS IN THE FILE INDICATE A COMPLAINT WHERE THE MUNICIPAL CLERK MISHANDLED THE SENDING IN OF A DUI ABSTRACT, WHICH RESULTED IN THE LOSS OF THE APPELLANT'S DRIVING PRIVILEGES AFTER THE APPELLANT HAD ALREADY BEEN TOLD HIS DRIVER'S LICENSE HAD BEEN SUSPENDED. AND HE SERVED THEREFORE TWO (2) NINETY (90) DAY SUSPENSIONS. THE PRINCIPAL ISSUE BEFORE THE COURT IS WHETHER OR NOT THE NEGLIGENCE OF THE CLERK IN SO HANDLING THIS MINISTERIAL ACT CONSTITUTES GROUNDS FOR LIABILITY AGAINST THE CITY OF SALTILLO OUTSIDE THE PROTECTION OF THE SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY DOCTRINE.

ISSUE II: WHETHER OR NOT THE CIRCUIT COURT HEARING

THIS CASE ON APPEAL IMPROPERLY DISMISSED THE APPEAL AFTER IT WAS PROPERLY PAID FOR AND FILED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF WHICH THE COUNTY COURT IS A DIVISION.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

THE APPELLANT, William Smith, would respectfully state that a Municipal Court Clerk acting in a ministerial function of sending an abstract to Jackson, Mississippi is not immune from suit as a result of her actions as reflected in this case. The question of immunity can only be fully developed as the case is tried but the simple actions of this ministerial act which is not a part of her Court functions and could be followed and performed by any other employee of the City are not protected by the scope of the immunity and therefore the City of Saltillo has liability if the facts alleged by William Smith are true. It was error to dismiss the suit by Judge Brett on the grounds of Sovereign Immunity. The Circuit Court also erred in dismissing this Appeal when two separate Circuit Judges had signed orders setting up scheduling orders and then granting an extension of time to file briefs when it was obvious that a clear effort was made to file an Appeal in the right Court being the Circuit Court when there was alleged an error to be in the County Court which is a specific division of the Circuit Court just as the Court of Appeals is a division of the Supreme Court and this error is compounded by the fact that as required under Supreme Court Rules, after the appeal is properly filed with the Circuit Clerk, no notice of any deficiency was ever given to the Appellant ever in this case and the Appellant was not allowed to correct any deficiency by the payment of the required court cost or extra cost or the more specific

designation of his record.

Wherefore premises considered for these reasons, the Appellant asks that this case be remanded back to the County Court for the trial on the merits.

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

THIS IS TO CERTIFY that I, the undersigned, GENE BARTON, Attorney for the Appellant, William Smith, have this date filed a true, correct and exact copy of the above and foregoing Appellant's Summary of the Argument, and on said date served a true, correct and exact copy of said document upon the hereinafter named persons, via Unites States Mail, First Class, postage prepaid, the same being their last known and now existing post office addresses, respectively:

Honorable Terry Little Daniel, Coker, Horton and Bell Attorneys at Law Post Office box 1396 Oxford, Mississippi 38655-1396 Facsimile: (662) 232-8940

Honorable James L. Roberts, Jr. Circuit Court Judge Post Office Drawer 1100 Tupelo, Mississippi 38802-1100 Facsimile: (662) 680-6078

SO CERTIFIED, this the 29 day of Dec

Gene Barton, MSB No: 2102

Attorney for Appellant

William Smith

P.O. Box 147

Okolona, MS 38860

(662) 447-2522

Fax (662) 447-2526

gbartonatty@bellsouth.net

www.genebarton.net

ARGUMENT: ISSUE I

The Supreme Court of the State of Mississippi has held in numerous cases that reckless disregard of the facts and intentional wrongdoing is an exception to the Sovereign Immunity Statute, which allows suits against municipalities. The Court so held in The City of Jackson and Miranda Morton v. Lynda Key Presley, 2008-CA-381, COA, which dealt with a tragic car accident where the Court held that the evidence in itself indicated that the facts justified a finding of reckless disregard. More specifically, in that case, in paragraph sixteen (16), the Court held that the Mississippi Tort Claims Act provides exclusive civil remedy against a governmental entity or its employees for torts. Mississippi Code of 1972, Annotated, Section 11-46-71 (revised 2002) states no governmental employee shall be personally liable for acts or omissions occurring within the course of the employee's duties. Mississippi Code of 1972, Annotated, Section 11-46-72 (revised 2002). There is an exception where the employee acted in reckless disregard for the safety and well-being of a person, or where the actions were intentional.

The critical issue before the Court of Appeals and ultimately, the Supreme Court is whether or not under the <u>Mississippi Tort Claims Act</u>, assuming all notice requirements and other provisions are followed, is a Court Clerk of a municipality entitled to absolute and complete sovereign immunity, regardless of his or her actions? This matter has not been clearly addressed by the Courts. The Appellant in this case realizes that there are two issues before the Court, one being whether

or not the appeal is properly filed, which Appellant contends it was, the secondly, the issue of sovereign immunity. Since the issue of sovereign immunity is a matter of major significance, and this case, and case law on this issue is not clear, Appellant hopes that this Court will address this issue regardless of its finding on the second issue. In that this matter needs to be addressed by the Supreme Court of Mississippi with respect to its interpretation of Mississippi Code of 1972, Annotated, Section 11-46-9.

Specifically, the code section involved under <u>Mississippi Code of 1972</u>, <u>Annotated</u>, Section 11-46-9, is subsection 1C which provides as follows:

"Arising out of an act or omission of an employee of a governmental entity engaged in the performance or execution of duties relating to police or for fire protection, unless the employee acted in reckless disregard for the safety and well-being of any person not engaged in criminal activity at the time of the injury."

The Appellant in this case contends that the actions of the Clerk of the Court to not fall within this exception. Other cases have been decided, for example, where a Chancery Clerk has liability for failure to properly file a Lis Pendens Notice or other document which has caused damages to other individuals by failure to comply with his duties. The Court has held and extended this claim of immunity to an Assistant District Attorney who was acting in the scope of her employee as an Assistant District Attorney provided incorrect information as far as identification regarding a person who committed the crime of false pretenses. See *Stewart v. District Attorney*, 923 So. 2d 1017 (COA 2005). However, this case

deals with the Clerk of the Court. The issue is, and there is very little case law that deals with it as to whether or not because the Clerk is an officer of the Court, does that preclude liability against the Clerk for performing or failing to perform what could normally consider ministerial functions, such as mailing in abstracts of convictions? These situations could occur where the Clerk negligently sent in a form that an individual had not paid their fine and therefore their driver's license was suspended, when in fact they had paid their fine, and it occur by negligence. On the other hand, a Clerk could intentionally send in information that an individual had failed to pay their fine when in fact they had paid their fine and as a result, the person's driver's license is suspended. The same applies with respect to the DUI. A Clerk could send in the form and put the wrong information on the form and the wrong person's license could be suspended, when in fact they had never been convicted of DUI. The action could be intentional or it could be by pure neglect. Appellant contends that the actions of the Clerk were acting in a ministerial function of submitting this documentation to the state as part of her duties as Clerk, do not grant her sovereign immunity. This is the primary issue before the Court. Is a municipal clerk protected by sovereign immunity if she negligently sends in the wrong documents to the state to suspend the license, or fails to send it in for three (3) years, or on purpose sends in incorrect information which results in the suspension of someone's driver's license, or in the other possibility, if the Clerk fails to send in the information and the person's driver's license is not suspended, and the individual continues to drive with a license and injuries someone?

All of these scenarios are possibilities that occur and the Appellant asks for a ruling as to whether or not the Clerk has absolute sovereign immunity for ministerial functions. Another possible scenario is that the Clerk of the Court is now authorized to accept and issue, prepare paperwork in domestic violence cases. And how about the situation where the Clerk refuses to fill them out and the person is thereby killed or injured? All of these are possible scenarios. Does the Clerk have absolute sovereign immunity for these ministerial functions? The Appellant would respectfully state that this issue needs to be address.

The case of *Wendell Duncan v. Donna Jill Johnson and Renee Covert* (2008-CP-00055 COA), dealing with the liability of a Circuit Clerk, has some bearing on the issues before the Court. It sheds some light on the questions that the Appellant raises in this Brief. Although an Opinion was written, Wendell Duncan filed his case *Pro Se*, and did not fully brief the case. In this particular case, a Circuit Clerk was sued for failure to issue process and apparently, the Circuit Court dismissed the case *sua sante*. The Courts have held that a clerk is entitled only to qualified immunity for good faith efforts in the execution of his or her duties, unless his or her conduct violates clearly established statutory and constitutional rights which a reasonable person would have known. *Richardson v. McDonnell*, 841 F. 2d 120, 122 (5th Cir. 1988), *Harlow v. Fitzgerald*, 457 U.S. 800.

Also see Antonio v. Byers and Anderson, Inc., 508 U.S. 429.

Another interesting case that deals with a similar type issue is Tippah County, Mississippi v. Joyce Childers as Guardian of Daniel Childers and Daniel Childers, Individually, which dealt with a lawsuit against a Chancery Clerk as a result of the filing of a mental commitment evaluation and a Writ for mental evaluation and treatment by the Chancery Clerk of Tippah County, Mississippi, when the Chancery Clerk issued the Writ. In this particular case, Childers had sent Tippah County a proper Notice of Claim pursuant to the Mississippi Tort Claims Act. The case came directly under the provisions of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act, and in fact, Tippah County failed to respond to the Complaint and the Circuit Court entered a Default Judgment after conducting a Writ of Inquiry on August 16, 2007, and rendered a Judgment for a substantial amount of money against the Chancery Court Clerk. The suit dealt with a number of issues, including the right to set aside the Default Judgment and also the issues of the liability of a Clerk. Based on this case, it is clearly evident that a Chancery Clerk or Circuit Clerk or any Court Clerk performing a ministerial duty can be held liable and ruling under a 12(b) Motion, that such claim in itself does not state a cause of action, is error by the County Court Judge.

Another interesting case, which is another *Pro Se* case, was filed *Patty Young* v. William (Bill) Benson, Chancery Clerk of Lee County, Mississippi, alleging an improper delay in paying her Four Hundred Fifteen Dollars (\$415.00) that she had

paid as a result of other litigation. The Clerk, Benson, claimed that he had qualified judicial immunity as a Clerk of the Court. This case was dismissed solely on the issue of the statute of limitations under the <u>Mississippi Tort Claims</u>

<u>Act</u>, and other details concerning the liability of the Clerk were not gone into in this particular case.

A number of cases seem to have arisen dealing with Patty Young and Harry Vinson. The fact that these cases were in fact dismissed on various grounds which may or may not have been related to the fact that these parties filed so many lawsuits is irrelevant to the interesting discussion of the law in these cases. Mr. Vinson and Ms. Young were *Pro Se* parties, but despite that fact, quite interesting points of law are brought up in these opinions by the Court, which should be informative on the issue presently before the Court, this case being in the Vinson case, particularly cited as 2000-CP-01524-COA, does elaborate on the liability of a Chancery Clerk and court clerks in general. The general rule is that court clerks are limited in liability when they are performing and that they have quasi-judicial immunity when performing official duties. However, ministerial duties are handled separately. The Mississippi Supreme Court held, in Ellsworth v. Busby, 172 Miss. 399, 160 So. 575 (1935), a 1975 case, that the Chancery Clerk's failure to sign a Certificate of Probation after the Clerk's Deputy had approved or registered the claim, the Court held that the Clerk was personally liable because the signing of his name was merely a ministerial act. It would certainly appear

that the sending in of a form to the State of Mississippi is a ministerial act. It is simply taking the form and in a timely fashion, sending the correct form in to the State of Mississippi.

ARGUMENT: ISSUE II

The record reflects on page 5 of the Record Excerpts that a Petition for Appeal was filed timely within the thirty (30) days, on November 10, 2008, with the Circuit Court. The Petition was filed with the Circuit Court of Lee County, Mississippi, as reflected in the Petition it is an appeal of a Decision signed by Judge Charles Brett on or about October 31, 2008 (RE 4). The appeal was based on the fact that the County Court, a division of the Circuit Court, improperly dismissed the appeal on the doctrine of *Sovereign Immunity*.

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