IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

WILLIAM SMITH

APPELLANTS

VS.

NO. 2009-CA-01003

CITY OF SALTILLO, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEES

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons and/or entities have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal:

- 1. William Smith Plaintiff/Appellant.
- 2. Eugene Barton, Esq. Counsel for Plaintiff/Appellant.
- 3. City of Saltillo, Mississippi Defendant/Appellee.
- Terry D. Little, Esq., Daniel Coker Horton & Bell, P.A., 265 North Lamar Boulevard,

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

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Smith failed to perfect his appeal from the county court to the circuit court. Accordingly, the circuit court did not err when it dismissed his appeal for lack of jurisdiction. Since the circuit court lacked jurisdiction, plaintiff's appeal from the Judgment of the Lee County Circuit Court is improper as this Court has no jurisdiction to hear the appeal.

Alternatively, to the extent this Court has jurisdiction, the circuit court did not err in dismissing the plaintiff's appeal for lack of jurisdiction for failure to timely perfect his appeal. However, should this Court determine that the circuit court erred in dismissing the appeal, the proper procedure would be to remand the appeal to the circuit court for consideration of the appeal on the record from the county court.

Alternatively, in the event this Court finds that it has jurisdiction and that the plaintiff's appeal from the county court is properly before it, Saltillo would show that the county court did not err in dismissing the plaintiff's Complaint pursuant to the immunity found at Miss. Code Ann. §11-46-9(1)(a). Miss. Code Ann. §11-46-9(1)(a) provides that a governmental entity and its employees acting within the course and scope of their employment or duties shall not be liable for any claim "[a]rising out of the legislative or judicial action or inaction, or administrative action or inaction of a legislative or judicial nature."

The plaintiff's Complaint clearly alleges that his claim arises out of the Municipal Clerk's negligence in the handling and processing of his D.U.I. case. The Mississippi Supreme Court addressed judicial or administrative actions or inactions with regards to a Justice Court Clerk and Judge in *Collins v. Tallahatchie County*, 876 So. 2d 284 (Miss. 2004). In *Collins*, the Court found that even if there were a "difference in the issuance of a warrant and the delivery of a warrant to a police or sheriff's department, the type of conduct complained of would be an administrative act of a judicial nature, at the very least." *Collins*, 876 So. 2d at 288 (Miss. 2004). Such conduct "falls squarely within §11-46-9(1)(a)." *Id.* As in *Collins*, the alleged negligence of the Municipal Clerk in the handling and processing of the plaintiff's D.U.I. case falls clearly within §11-46-9(1)(a). Furthermore, the defendant is immune because the action of the Municipal Clerk in handling and processing the plaintiff's D.U.I. case arises out of judicial action. *Blake v. Wilson*, 962 So. 2d 705, 712 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007)(§11-46-9(1)(a) does not premise immunity on the employee's actual employment as a member of the judiciary, instead, the statute grants immunity to governmental employees whose conduct arises out of a judicial action).

IV. ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that when a circuit court did not acquire jurisdiction to hear an appeal from county court, there is no valid judgment from which to appeal to the Supreme Court. *Williams v. Michael*, 319 So. 2d 226, 227 (Miss. 1975).

Alternatively, should this Court determine that it has jurisdiction to hear the appeal of the Order of the circuit court, this Court must determine whether the circuit court erred in denying the appeal for lack of jurisdiction where the plaintiff failed to properly perfect his appeal from county court to circuit court. *Graham v. Murray*, 359 So. 2d 1370 (Miss. 1978); *Fowler Butane Gas Co.*

v. Parish, 181 So. 2d 157 (Miss. 1965).

B. SUPREME COURT LACKS JURISDICTION TO HEAR THIS APPEAL

As stated above, plaintiff has filed a separate Motion to Dismiss Appeal for Lack of Standing.

To the extent the issue of jurisdiction is more properly argued in the Appellee's Brief rather than by motion, the pertinent authority in support of Appellee's Motion to Dismiss Appeal for Lack of Jurisdiction is repeated below.

Smith improperly seeks to have the merits of the County Court's substantive decision to dismiss the case reviewed by this Court. In *Graham v. Murray*, 359 So.2d 1370 (Miss. 1978), the Mississippi Supreme Court set forth its scope of review when a circuit court dismisses an appeal from county court when the assigned errors were not considered by the circuit court in affirming the judgment of the county court:

We are of the opinion that when no assignment of errors is timely filed in, and is not considered by the appellate court (here circuit court), then no such assignment of errors will be considered by this Court.

In Fowler Butane Gas Company v. Parish, 254 Miss. 585, 181 So.2d 157 (1965), this Court held as follows:

Under the posture of this case, the Court is not concerned with the merits of the appeal, but only with whether the circuit court was in error in denying the writ of certiorari and in dismissing the appeal.

This Court considered the same question in *Mississippi State Highway Comm'n v. Cook*, 270 So.2d 695 (Miss. 1972). In that case, we disposed of the issue by holding as follows:

There was no assignment of error filed in the circuit court when the case was appealed there from the county court. Under several cases heretofore decided by this Court, we cannot consider any nonjurisdictional questions not presented by an assignment of error in circuit court.

In considering the practical as well as the legal aspects of this procedural issue, we are of the opinion that the only question properly before this Court is whether the circuit court properly affirmed the judgment of the county court on the ground that the circuit court rules were not complied with by the appellant. To hold otherwise and go into the merits of the assignment of errors charged to the county court, which assignment was not filed in the circuit court until after the circuit court affirmed the judgment of the county court, would, in effect, allow a party to circumvent the intermediate appellate process.

Smith now seeks to circumvent the appellate process by having this Court determine the sufficiency of the county court's decision to grant summary judgment. As set forth above, the plaintiff failed to perfect his appeal by paying the required costs and wholly failed to comply with the rules governing appeals to the circuit court. The plaintiff's failure to timely perfect his appeal before the circuit court requires this Court to dismiss the appeal from circuit court for lack of jurisdiction.

C. <u>CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY DISMISSED APPELLANT'S APPEAL</u> <u>FROM COUNTY COURT FOR LACK OF JURISDICTION FOLLOWING</u> APPELLANT'S FAILURE TO PERFECT HIS APPEAL.

Alternatively, should this Court determine that it has jurisdiction to hear the plaintiff's appeal from the order of the Circuit Court, the decision of the circuit court in dismissing the appeal for lack of jurisdiction should be affirmed. Smith's Petition for Appeal contained a number of jurisdictional deficiencies requiring dismissal of the appeal. Miss. Code Ann. §11-51-79 provides that "[a]ppeals from the County Court shall be taken and bond given within thirty (30) days from the date of the entry of the Final Judgment or Decree on the minutes of the Court." The Mississippi Supreme Court has long held that the statute governing appeals from the county court to circuit court "is mandatory and jurisdictional." W. P. Johnson and L. D. Johnson d/b/a P & L Homes in Meridian v. Silvester Evans and Rows Discount Mobile Homes, Inc., 517 So. 2d 570 (Miss. 1987); Williams v. Michael,

319 So. 2d 226, 227 (Miss. 1975); Flowers v. Trotlos, 160 So. 581, 582 (Miss. 1935) (applying same standard to predecessor statute). The Court has also held that since the time for perfecting appeals is jurisdictional, neither the Supreme Court nor the trial court can extend the time for perfecting appeals. Mississippi State Highway Comm'n v. First Methodist Church of Biloxi, Mississippi, Inc., 323 So. 2d 92, 95 (Miss. 1975). Therefore, where a party fails to perfect an appeal within the time allowed by the statute, it is the duty of the Supreme Court to dismiss the appeal either on its own motion or on motion of the Appellee. Id.

In addition, the Uniform Circuit and County Court Rule 5.04 governs the Notice of Appeal from a county court to a circuit court and provides:

the party desiring to appeal a decision from a lower court must file a written notice of appeal with the circuit court clerk. A copy of that notice must be provided to all parties or their attorneys of record and the lower court or lower authority whose order or judgment is being appealed. A certificate of service must accompany the written notice of appeal The written notice of appeal must specify the party or parties taking the appeal; must designate the judgment or order from which the appeal is taken; must state if it is on the record or on appeal de novo and must be addressed to the appropriate court.

Smith failed to comply with the requirement that the Notice be provided to all parties or their attorneys of record and the lower court. R.E. 3, R. 00002-3. Further, the plaintiff failed to comply with U.R.C.C.C. 5.01 as he requested "that this case be remanded to the Circuit Court for a jury trial on all issues." R.E. 3, R. 00003. U.R.C.C.C. 5.01 provides that all cases appealed to Circuit Court, except for direct appeals from Justice Court or Municipal Court, "shall be on the record and not a trial *de novo*." Accordingly, Smith failed to comply with U.R.C.C.C. 5.01 and 5.04 which requires the plaintiff to state in his Petition that the appeal is on the record.

Smith also failed to comply with U.R.C.C.C. 5.05 and M.R.A.P. 11(a) which governs the filing of the record and appeals on the record. To the extent that Smith's appeal is based on the

record, he failed to file the Record from the lower court with the circuit clerk within thirty (30) days of filing of the Notice of Appeal as required by U.R.C.C.C. 5.05 and M.R.A.P. 11(a). Rule 5.05 provides that the "[f]ailure to file the record with the court clerk or to request assistance of the court in compelling the same within thirty (30) days of the filing of the written notice of appeal may be deemed an abandonment of the appeal and the court may dismiss the same with costs to the appealing party or parties." M.R.A.P. 11(a) provides that the Appellant shall designate the record pursuant to M.R.A.P. 10 and take any other action necessary to enable the clerk to assemble and transmit the record. As Smith failed to even notify the county court clerk that the court's order was being appealed, he failed to comply with M.R.A.P. 10 and 11. Not only did Smith fail to notify the county court of the appeal, he also failed to take any action to secure transmission of the record to the circuit court for over four (4) months after the Petition for Appeal was filed with the circuit clerk on November 10, 2008, as required by U.R.C.C.C. 5.05.

Smith also failed to provide a cost bond as required by U.R.C.C.C. 5.09 which provides: "[i]n all appeals, unless the court allows an appeal *in forma pauperis*, the appellant or appellants shall pay all court costs incurred below and likely to be incurred on appeal as estimated by the circuit court clerk." The plaintiff failed to perfect his appeal by failing to provide any cost bonds as required by the Rules. R.E. 7, R. 00001; R.E. 8, R. 00018.

U.R.C.C.C. 5.04 provides that "[t]he timely filing of this written notice and <u>payment of costs</u> will perfect the appeal." Since Smith did not pay the costs incurred in the lower court, his appeal was not perfected and the time for him to file the appeal expired. Since the appeal was not perfected, the time to appeal could not be extended except by M.R.A.P. 4(g), which provides:

the trial court may extend the time for filing a notice of appeal upon motion filed not later than thirty (30) days after the expiration of the time otherwise prescribed by this rule. Any such motion which is filed before expiration of the prescribed time may be granted for good cause and may be ex parte unless the Court otherwise requires. Notice of any such motion which is filed after expiration of the prescribed time shall be given other parties, and the motion shall be granted only upon a showing of excusable neglect. No such extension shall exceed thirty (30) days past such prescribed time or ten (10) days from the dates of entry of the order granting the motion, which ever occurs later. (Emphasis added).

Furthermore, Smith failed to comply with Miss. Code Ann. §11-51-29(2009) which required the prepayment of costs in civil cases on appeal. Specifically, Miss. Code Ann. §11-51-29 provides:

on appeals from decrees overruling demurers or other interlocutory orders or decrees, or where the appeal is granted to settle the principals of the case, or on appeals from final judgments of a circuit court in civil cases, or from final decrees of a chancery court including cases where the circuit court or chancery court has acted as an appellate court, the appellant shall prepay all of the costs in the lower court including the cost of the preparation of the record of the proceedings in the trial court, and fee prescribed in §25-7-3, to the clerk of the court from which the appeal is taken. (Emphasis added).

Lastly, Smith failed to comply with M.R.A.P. 11(b) by failing to estimate the cost of preparation of the record on appeal and depositing the sum with the county court clerk. Based upon the numerous jurisdictional deficiencies set forth above, the circuit court properly dismissed the appeal.

D. COUNTY COURT CORRECTLY APPLIED THE JUDICIALIMMUNITY FOUND AT MISS. CODE ANN. §11-46-9(1)(a) TO DETERMINE THE CITY WAS IMMUNE FROM SUIT

Even if this Court determines that it has jurisdiction to hear the issues related to the county court's grant of summary judgment, the county court correctly applied the judicial immunity provided by Miss. Code Ann. §11-46-9(1)(a) to determine that the city was immune.

Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-9(1)(a) provides that a governmental entity and its employees acting within the course and scope of their employment or duty shall not be liable for any claim

"[a]rising out of a legislative or judicial action or inaction, or administrative action or inaction of a legislative or judicial nature".

The plaintiff's complaint clearly alleges that his claim arises out of the Municipal Clerk's negligence in the handling and processing of his D.U.I. case. The Supreme Court addressed judicial or administrative actions or inactions with regard to a justice court clerk and judge in Collins v. Tallahatchie County. In Collins, the Court found that even if there were a "difference between the issuance of a warrant and the delivery of a warrant to a police or sheriff's department, the type of conduct complained of would be an administrative act of a judicial nature, at the very least." Collins v. Tallahatchie County, 876 So.2d 284, 288 (Miss. 2004). As in Collins, the alleged negligence of the Municipal Clerk in the handling and processing the plaintiff's D.U.I. case fell clearly within § 11-46-9(1)(a). Furthermore, the defendant was immune because the action of the Municipal Clerk in handling and processing the plaintiff's D.U.I. case arose out of judicial action. Blake v. Wilson, 962 So.2d 705, 712 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007)(§ 11-46-9(1)(a) does not premise immunity on the employee's actual employment as a member of the judiciary, instead, the statute grants immunity to governmental employees whose conduct arises out of a judicial action). Accordingly, county court was correct in determining that the defendant was immune and dismissing the plaintiff's complaint with prejudice.

The plaintiff's argument that there is an exception to Miss. Code Ann. §11-46-9(1)(a) premised on reckless disregard is completely without legal precedent. Reckless disregard is a standard applied to "the performance or execution of duties or activities relating to police or fire protection" under the MTCA. Miss. Code Ann. §11-46-9(1)(c). There is no reckless disregard standard applied to Miss. Code Ann. §11-46-9(1)(a).

Furthermore, the other various cases cited by the appellant that purportedly discuss the

negligent activities of clerks are distinguishable as they deal with federal claims or the claims are proscribed by the statute of limitation and those cases do not implicate the immunities Mississippi has enacted for state law claims. As the plaintiff's claims clearly relate to the inactions of an administrative action of a judicial nature, the lower court was correct in dismissing his claims pursuant to the immunity provided by Miss. Code Ann. §11-46-9(1)(a).

V. CONCLUSION

The circuit court did not err when it dismissed plaintiff's appeal for failure to timely perfect his appeal from the county court to circuit court. Since the circuit court dismissed the appeal for lack of jurisdiction, this Court has no jurisdiction to hear the appeal.

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